FILED

NO. 331750

MAY 27 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By _____

WHITMAN COUNTY CAUSE NO. 10-2-00293-4

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION III**

GARRETT RANCHES, LLC
a Washington Limited Liability Company
Respondents

v.

LARRY HONN FAMILY, LLC
a Washington Limited Liability Company
Appellants

APPELLANT HONN'S BRIEF

J. Gregory Lockwood
WSBA No. 20629
Law Office J. Gregory Lockwood, P.L.L.C.
421 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 960
Spokane, Washington 99201
Phone: (509) 624-8200
Fax: (509) 623-1491
Attorney for Appellant

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: The trial court made an Error of Law in violation of RCW 7.04A.110(1) by intervening in the arbitration process in violation of public policy by appointing a third 'neutral arbitrator' in the absence of any indication from the parties' selected arbitrators that they were deadlocked or were unable to select a "neutral arbitrator"**
- 2. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: The trial court committed error by appointing Mr. Esser over the objection of the appellant and failing to disclose the known relationship between Mr. Libey, Mr. Esser and Judge Fraizer which are all violations of the Appearances of fairness Doctrine.**
- 3. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3: The trial court committed error by the denial of appellant's motion for reconsideration of the order appointing Mr. Timothy Esser as the 3rd neural arbitrator.**
- 4. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 4: The trial court committed error in its denial of appellant's motion for recusal of Judge Frazier.**
- 5. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5: The 3rd neutral arbitrator appointed by the court failed to make disclosures as required under RCW 7.04A.120(1)(b)**
- 6. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5: The trial court erred in confirming the arbitration award due to violation of RCW 7.04A.230(1)(b)(i)**
- 7. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 6: The trial court committed error by confirming the arbitration award which was granted by summary judgment with material issues of fact in dispute and misapplied the law as to res judicata**

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The appeal arises from an option contained in the parties Farm Lease with Option. (CP312-318) The option clause at paragraph 4 in the farm lease does not identify any consideration to support the option. (CP313) The body of the farm lease itself is silent as to what if any consideration was given to support the option. (CP312-318)

Due to the lack of consideration to support the option, the appellants on February 9, 2012 served notice upon the respondents that the option was being withdrawn. (CP333) No response was made by the respondent until May 5, 2014 when a letter from the respondents counsel was received indicating an intent to execute the option. (CP344)

Arbitration was ordered to determine if the option was supported by consideration and if the appellants had the right under Washington law to withdrawal the option. (Appendix "A")

The arbitration clause contained in the farm lease at paragraph 15 required each party to select an arbitrator and a 3rd neutral arbitrator to be chosen by the two chosen arbitrators. (CP317)

The respondent in an effort to “stack” the arbitration panel filed a motion pursuant to RCW7.04A.110 with the Superior Court to appoint the 3rd neutral arbitrator from a list of three of their proposed arbitrators.(CP5) The respondents motion for the appointment of a 3rd arbitrator was unsupported by any evidence or indication from the arbitrators that the process designated in the arbitration agreement had failed. (CP31-33)

The appellant filed an objection to the motion specifically arguing that the arbitrators had not indicated the process designated in the arbitration agreement had failed and further argued that their recommended 3rd arbitrator were inherently biased due to the recommendation by a party. (CP34-38)

The respondent in nominating their second and third recommendation did not disclose in their motion that Mr. Esser was a former partner of the respondents counsel. (CP290) The respondent further failed to mention an ongoing social relationship of Mr. Gary Libey (respondent’s counsel) Mr. Timothy Esser and Judge Fraizer. (CP292)

During the hearing for appointment of the 3rd neutral arbitrator, the court having specific knowledge of the partnership of Mr. Libey and Mr. Esser failed to disclose this information to the

appellants. (October 3, 2014. - VR 13-14) The court also failed to disclose the known social relationship between Mr. Libey, Mr. Esser and Judge Fraizer. (CP292)

The trial court appointed Mr. Timothy Esser as the third "neutral" arbitrator on October 16, 2014. (CP62)

The trial court intervened in the arbitration process without evidence from the arbitrators that the process had failed but relied solely upon the respondent's counsel's declaration. (CP32)

Following the October 3, 2014 hearing the appellants learned of Mr. Timothy Esser's former partnership with Mr. Gary Libey (respondent's counsel). (CP290) The respondent upon learning of the partnership filed an immediate motion for reconsideration on October 14, 2014. (CP45-49)

The appellants specifically argued that the appointment of Mr. Esser was a violation of the appearance of fairness. (October 14, 2014 - VR3), (CP 243)

Judge Fraizer knew that Mr. Esser and Mr. Libby were former partners but did not disclose that at the time of Mr. Esser's appointment. Judge Fraizer stated at the February 13, 2015 hearing:

35

14 ... At the time when I made the
15 appointment, didn't even think -- should have, should
16 have known -- "Yeah, he used to be in the Libey firm.
17 They were partners."
(February 13, 2015 - VR35)

The appellants also moved for disqualification of the Libey law firm as Mr. Libey had drafted the Farm lease and Option which were at issue and would be called as a witness by the appellants. (CP39-44)

The court on October 24, 2014 denied the motion for reconsideration and denied the motion for disqualification of the Libey Law firm. (CP135-136)

In choosing Mr. Esser as the 3rd neutral arbitrator Judge Fraizer admits that his choice of Mr. Esser was not how he normally handles such matters by stating at the October 24, 2014 reconsideration hearing:

24

**4 And normally, and I think I said this at
5 the time, if it's an issue of appointing a mediator or
6 appointing an expert or a guardian ad litem and it's
7 disputed, or an arbitrator, and one party says, "I
8 want such and such," and the other party disagrees, "I
9 don't want to appoint such and such" -- But Mr. Esser
10 was sitting right where this gentleman here is sitting
11 as you were arguing the case.
12 I'm very familiar with Mr. Esser. *Emphasis Added*
(October 24, 2014 - VR24), (CP264)**

Judge Fraizer also indicated at the reconsideration hearing that normally he does not appoint an arbitrator that is disputed. But in this case Judge Fraizer does so in the face of a strenuous objection by the appellant. October 24, 2014 (VR 3-9) in so doing, the trial court left the matter of Mr. Esser's disqualification solely with Mr. Esser. (October 24, 2014 - VR 28), (CP268)

Judge Fraizer left the question of impartiality of Mr. Esser with him. Judge Fraizer in indicate that the Honns could challenge the appointment with the arbitration panel. (October 24, 2014 - VR 27-28), (CP267-268)

Judge Fraizer had nominated three (3) alternates to Mr. Esser that could have been named instead of Mr. Esser but he intentionally chose Mr. Esser knowing of the relationship with Mr. Libey. (October 24, 2014 - VR 28-29), (CP292)

On November 12, 2014 the appellant received an affidavit from a Ms Khani Taylor that indicated that Mr. Esser, Mr. Libey and Judge Fraizer are often seen together in Colfax Washington and are social friends. (CP225) The appellant did know at the time of Mr. Esser's appointment of the social relationship of Mr. Esser, Mr. Libey or Judge Fraizer. (CP292)

At the hearing on the appellant's motion for reconsideration Judge Fraizer was openly antagonistic towards the appellants and commented on the evidence going as far as indicating a lack of merit of the appellant's position and stated that he felt the appellants were barred by res judicata. (October 24, 2014 - VR 22-23) (CP262-263)

Following entry of the Order denying reconsideration the parties proceeded with arbitration.

On November 6, 2014 Mr. Esser's made his RCW 7.04A.120 disclosure which only indicated his former partnership which had already been raised at the reconsideration hearing (CP252)

The appellants moved the arbitration panel for an order allowing the deposition the respondent's CR 30(b)(6) designee and of Mr. Gary Libey as the drafter of the option which was denied. (Appendix "B"), (CP131-134)

In the Order denying discovery Mr. Esser indicated that he wanted the parties to file summary motions. (Appendix "B") By doing so Mr. Esser ensured that the appellants would not have the opportunity to question or inquire into a cross-examination of the respondent's representative prior to the arbitration decision.

Following receipt of the affidavit of Khani Taylor the appellants sent a letter to Mr. Esser indicating that the appellant desired his recusal and allow the first named alternate to be appointed due to a violation of the appearance of fairness. (CP224) In response Mr. Esser sent the appellant an Order denying his recusal and failed to address the allegations contained in the Khani Taylor affidavit. (CP227) (CP225)

The appellant's arbitration summary motion was filed on the issue of lack of consideration to support the option. (Appendix "A") The respondents filed for summary judgment on the issue of res judicata as Judge Fraizer had indicated on (October 24, 2014 - VR 23), (CP263)

The arbitration panel filed its decision which was drafted by Mr. Esser finding for the respondent. (CP139-148) The arbitration decision was only signed by Mr. Smith and Mr. Esser with Mr. Gephardt dissenting. (CP149-151)

The appellant filed a motion to disqualification of Judge Fraizer due to his comments on the evidence and violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. (CP228-292) Judge Fraizer denied the appellants motion. (CP381-382)

2

The appellants moved to vacate the arbitration award pursuant to RCW 7.04A.230(1)(b)(i) and (c) (CP152-227 and 293-351)

On April 3, 2015 the respondent moved the court for an Order of sale and appointment of a commissioner to sign the deed prior to executing the option. (CP384-392) The court did not enter an order of sale nor did it order the appointment of a commissioner however the court did award attorney fees to the respondent in bring the motion. (CP400-403)

1. **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: The trial court made an Error of Law in violation of RCW 7.04A.110(1) by intervening in the arbitration process in violation of public policy by appointing a third ‘neutral arbitrator’ in the absence of any indication from the parties’ selected arbitrators that they were deadlocked or were unable to select a “neutral arbitrator”.**

The appellant believes that this is an issue of first impression for the court.

- a. **Standard Of Review**

The review of the trial court’s decision to appoint a 3rd neutral arbitrator pursuant to RCW 7.04A.110 is the de novo standard as it is applicable when the appellate court is in as good a position as the trial court to judge the evidence. All relevant evidence is in documentary form and the appellate court is able to substitute its

judgment for that of the trial court about the facts as well as Application, Southwest Wash. Prod. Credit Ass'n. v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank, 19 Wash. App. 397, 406, 577 P.2d 589, 594 (1978), rev'd on other grounds, 92 Wash. 2d 30, 593 P.2d 167 (1979).

b. Interference With Arbitration Method

The appointment of a fair and unbiased 3rd "neutral arbitrator" by the court pursuant to RCW 7.04A.110 must only be allowed with clear evidence that the parties arbitration method had failed. Further, in tripartite arbitration due to the finality and limited review of arbitration decisions a 3rd neutral arbitrator must have the appearance and be fair and unbiased. The importance of a truly neutral arbitrator is apparent considering that the doctrine of common law arbitration states that the arbitrator is the final judge of both the facts and the law, and "no review will lie for a mistake in either." Clark County PUD No. 1, 150 Wash.2d at 245, 76 P.3d 248 (citing Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. State Pers. Bd., 61 Wash. App. 778, 785, 812 P.2d 500 (1991)).

The Washington Supreme court held in Rodriguez v. Windermere Real Estate/Wall Street, Inc., 175 P.3d 604, 142 Wn.App. 833, 831 (2008) that:

Arbitration serves as a beneficial alternative to litigation

that can provide a more expeditious and less expensive resolution of disputes. King County v. Boeing Co., 18 Wash.App. 595, 602, 570 P.2d 713 (1977). **But, arbitration can substitute for litigation only if we have confidence in the ability of the arbitrators to make fair, unbiased decisions. The choice of arbitrators has serious implications because: " arbitrators are, when acting under unlimited authority, ... final judges of both the law and the facts, and ... no review will lie for a mistake in either."** Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. State Pers. Bd., 61 Wash.App. 778, 785, 812 P.2d 500 (1991)
Emphasis Added

The arbitration process agreed to by the parties in the Farm Lease is a tripartite process where each party designates one arbitrator, and these two party arbitrators then agree on a third arbitrator who is presumably neutral. (CP317) The party's arbitration clause contained in paragraph 15 of the Farm Lease reads as follows:

Arbitration: In the event any dispute shall arise between the parties, or with respect to this Lease, then and in that event the parties shall submit such issues to binding arbitration in accordance with R.C.W. 7.04A. Each party shall appoint one arbitrator, the two arbitrators shall appoint a third arbitrator, and the three arbitrators shall meet and decide any issues submitted to them within thirty (30) days of their appointment, which decision shall be final and binding on both parties. The arbitrators shall have all powers and duties as are set forth in R.C.W. Chapter 7.04A. Venue shall be in Whitman County Washington.
(CP317)

In this case on October 3, 2014 the respondent brought a motion pursuant to RCW 7.04A.110 to have the trial court appoint a 3rd "neutral arbitrator" from their recommended individuals. (CP31-33).

RCW 7.04A.110 reads:

(1) If the parties to an agreement to arbitrate agree on a method for appointing an arbitrator, that method must be followed, unless the method fails. If the parties have not agreed on a method, the agreed method fails, or an arbitrator appointed fails or is unable to act and a successor has not been appointed, the court, on motion of a party to the arbitration proceeding, shall appoint the arbitrator. The arbitrator so appointed has all the powers of an arbitrator designated in the agreement to arbitrate or appointed under the agreed method.

(2) An arbitrator who has a known, direct, and material interest in the outcome of the arbitration proceeding or a known, existing, and substantial relationship with a party may not serve as a neutral arbitrator.

The appellant objected indicating that the two arbitrators chosen by the parties pursuant to the arbitration agreement had presented nothing that indicated it was necessary for the trial court to appoint the 3rd "neutral arbitrator". (CP35)

On October 3, 2014 the appellant specifically argued a lack of evidence to support the need for the intervention of the court in the arbitration process.

6

1 MR. LOCKWOOD: Thank you, your Honor.

2 Judge, as was indicated, there is a mechanism for
3 appointing the third arbitrator in this case; that is,
4 the arbitrator that Mr. Read (sic), who was chosen by
5 the Garretts, and Mr. Gebhardt, the arbitrator that
6 the Honns have picked, are to come together and they
7 are to decide on who the third, neutral arbitrator
8 is. I want to stress that. It's the third, neutral
9 arbitrator.

10 At this point, Judge, you have no evidence
11 in front of you that the arbitrators are in a
12 deadlock. I have no indication of that. Now, I'm
13 still under the impression that the two arbitrators
14 are trying to decide who the third arbi- -- third,
15 neutral arbitrator will be. And until the arbitrators
16 give us some indication that they're in deadlock, I
17 think we're way premature. *Emphasis Added*
(October 6, 2014 - VR6),

The courts appointment of the "neutral arbitrator" was premature and unsupported by any evidence other than the declaration of respondent's counsel. (CP31-33) The trial court recognized the dispute as to the need to appoint the 3rd neutral arbitrator on October 3, 2014. (October 3, 2014 - VR12)

Judge Fraizer later at the motion for reconsideration acknowledged a lack of evidence existed as to the need for an appointment of a 3rd neutral arbitrator by stating:

23

21 As far as the court's designation of
22 Mr. Esser, when that issue was brought before me,
23 **really wasn't certain whether the two arbitrators that**
24 **had been selected by the parties had been unable to**
25 **reach an agreement. I think the two attorneys had a**

24

**1 disagreement on that issue. And I thought, "Oh,
2 they'll probably agree to the third arbitrator if we
3 put a deadline on it." Apparently they didn't.**
(October 24, 3014 - VR23-24)

The trial court's admitted "uncertainty" as to the need for the appointment of a 3rd arbitrator is clear error as it violated the plain meaning of RCW 7.04A.110(1). Had Judge Fraizer reviewed the materials submitted with the respondents' motion he would have found that there was no evidence from the selected arbitrators regarding a failed method of selecting the 3rd neutral arbitrator.
(CP31-33)

The parties had a method established in there arbitration agreement and the court interfered with that agreed method.

The relevant part of RCW 7.04A.110(1) states:

(1) If the parties to an agreement to arbitrate agree on a method for appointing an arbitrator, that method must be followed, unless the method fails.
Emphasis Added

There was no clear evidence that the arbitration method had failed to invoke RCW 7.04A.110(1). The court clearly violated the arbitration process absent evidence the arbitration method had failed. This intervention is a violation of public policy.

Washington courts are reluctant to intervene in the arbitration process deferring with good reason to public policy and

statutory mandate. Perez v. Mid-Century Ins. Co., 934 P.2d 731, 85 Wn.App. 760 (1997)

If the intervention into the arbitration process is truly a violation of public policy as stated in Perez, Id this court has authority to review the arbitration decision under Kitsap County Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap County, 167 Wn.2d 428, 436, 219 P.3d 675, (2009) which held:

We now join the federal and other state courts in adopting the narrow public policy exception to enforcing arbitration decisions. *Emphasis Added*

Based on the lack of evidence from the parties' selected arbitrators indicating that the arbitration process had failed the court improperly interfered in the adaptation process by appointing the 3rd neutral arbitrator. This case should be remanded for re-arbitration with a new arbitration panel,

2. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: The trial court committed error by appointing Mr. Esser over the objection of the appellant and failing to disclose the known relationship between Mr. Libey, Mr. Esser and Judge Fraizer which are all violations of the Appearances of fairness Doctrine.

a. Standard Of Review

The review of the trial court's decision to appoint a 3rd neutral arbitrator pursuant to RCW 7.04A.110 is the de novo standard as it

is applicable when the appellate court is in as good a position as the trial court to judge the evidence. All relevant evidence is in documentary form and the appellate court is able to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court about the facts as well as application, Southwest Wash. Prod. Credit Ass'n. v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank, 19 Wash. App. 397, 406, 577 P.2d 589, 594 (1978), rev'd on other grounds, 92 Wash. 2d 30, 593 P.2d 167 (1979).

b. Appointment Of Mr. Esser As 3rd Neutral Arbitrator

The respondent in their motion for the appointment of a 3rd neutral arbitrator nominated three individuals as a "neutral arbitrator". (CP5) The appellant objected to respondent's recommended "neutral arbitrators" arguing it was unfair on its face to have a party's recommended "neutral arbitrator" be appointed. (CP35-36)

The appellant specifically objected at the October 3, 2014 hearing to any nominated 3rd neutral arbitrator by either party due to the chance of bias.

7

4 And they've also nominated a couple other
5 attorneys here in Whitman County. And I think, by
6 definition, you start having individuals nominated by
7 a party, they're not a -- they're not a neutral
8 arbitrator.

(October 3, 2014 - VR7)

The respondent had recommended Mr. Timothy Esser as a "neutral arbitrator" as just another attorney from Whitman County. (CP5) The appellant was unaware of who Mr. Esser was at the time of his appointment or the social relationship with the respondents counsel at the time of the appointment. (CP262)

Judge Fraizer admitted at the motion for reconsideration hearing that he knew of the Esser and Libey partnership but did not disclose it Judge Fraizer stated:

25

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