JUL 1 3 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 331750

WHITMAN COUNTY CAUSE NO. 10-2-00293-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

GARRETT RANCHES, LLC A Washington Limited Liability Company Respondent

v.

LARRY HONN FAMILY, LLC A Washington Limited Liability Company Appellant

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Will Ferguson, WSBA 40978 Of Attorneys for Respondent LIBEY & ENSLEY, PLLC

I.

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

VI. ARGUMENT

1. The Superior Court did not interfere with the arbitration process because the Superior Court did not appoint an Arbitrator until after deadlock had been shown.

The Superior Court did interfere the arbitration process. The Superior Court appointed a third arbitrator only after deadlock had been shown.

RCW 7.04A.110(1) provides:

If the parties to an agreement to arbitrate agree on a method for appointing an arbitrator, that method must be followed, unless the method fails. If the parties have not agreed on a method, the agreed method fails, or an arbitrator appointed fails or is unable to act and a successor has not been appointed, the court, on motion of a party to the arbitration proceeding, shall appoint the arbitrator. The arbitrator so appointed has all the powers of an arbitrator designated in the agreement to arbitrate or appointed under the agreed method.

(emphasis added). The method for selecting the 3rd arbitrator is contained in Paragraph 15 of the Lease:

In the event any dispute shall arise between the parties, or with respect to this Lease, then and in that event the parties shall submit such issues to binding arbitration in accordance with R.C.W. 7.04A. Each party shall appoint one arbitrator, the two arbitrators shall appoint a third arbitrator, and the three arbitrators shall meet and decide any issues

submitted to them within thirty (30) days of their appointment, which decision shall be final and binding on both parties. The arbitrators shall have all the powers and duties as are set forth in R.C.W. Chapter 7.04A. Venue shall be in Whitman County, Washington.

CP 2. Garrett Ranches moved for appointment of an arbitrator because the two arbitrators selected by the parties had become deadlocked. CP 1-33. The Court did not officially appoint Mr. Esser until after Appellant was allowed to bring a motion for reconsideration. Mr. Esser was appointed at the hearing on October 24, 2014, after the deadline had passed for the two initial arbitrators to come to an agreement.

On October 24, 2014, the Superior Court noted that the selection process had indeed come to a deadlock:

And I thought, 'Oh, they'll probably agree to the third arbitrator if we put a deadline on it.' Apparently they didn't.

October 24, 2014--RP 24:1-3.

The Superior Court did not appoint an arbitrator on October 3, 2014. All the Superior Court did based upon Garrett Ranches' Motion for Appointment of 3rd and Final Arbitrator was to defer to the two Arbitrators in selection of a 3rd Arbitrator. Only after the two Arbitrators had shown that they were deadlocked by failing to select a 3rd, did the Superior Court intervene.

Appellant's Assignment of Error No. 1 should also fail due to waiver. Appellant waived and abandoned this argument for two reasons.

First, it failed to raise the argument on reconsideration and failed to raise the argument again in later proceedings, including when it moved to vacate the 3rd Arbitration Award. Second, Appellant suggested its own final arbitrator. October 24, 2014—RP 11-12.

The Superior Court did not interfere with the selection of the third arbitrator. The selection process had failed, the arbitrators became deadlocked, and the Superior Court only intervened after deadlock became apparent. The Appellant's first assignment of error should be dismissed.

2. The Superior Court did not violate the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine by appointing Mr. Esser because Mr. Esser possessed no actual or potential bias.

The Superior Court did not violate the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine by appointing Mr. Esser.

A judicial proceeding satisfies the appearance of fairness doctrine if a reasonably prudent and disinterested person would conclude that all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing. Kok v. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10, 179 Wash.App. 10, 24, 317 P.3d 481 (Div. 2, 2013) (citing Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wash.App. 76, 96, 283 P.3d 583 (2012)). "The test for determining whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned is an objective test that assumes that a reasonable person knows and understands all the relevant facts." Id. (citing Tatham, 170

Wash.App. at 96, 283 P.3d 583). "The party must produce sufficient evidence demonstrating actual or potential bias, such as personal or pecuniary interest on the part of the judge; mere speculation is not enough." Id.

Appellant's Assignment of Error No. 2 should be dismissed for two reasons. First, nothing in Washington law prohibits a party from nominating a 3rd arbitrator when the two initial arbitrators have reached a deadlock. Second, Appellant made no showing of real or potential bias. The totality of Appellant's showing was an unreliable Affidavit of an unidentified person and a full disclosure by Mr. Esser. Mr. Esser stated that he had, several years ago, been a member of the firm of Libey & Ensley. CP 64, 222. Mr. Esser had no pecuniary interest in the firm of Libey & Ensley when the Lease and Option in this case was drafted. CP 64-65. Mr. Esser had never had any contact with members of Garrett Ranches or any of the members of Appellant. CP 222. Mr. Esser had, however, represented the son of the principle members of Appellant. CP 222.

A reasonable person would conclude that Appellant received a fair, impartial, and neutral arbitration hearing and decision. Appellant's Second Assignment of Error should be dismissed because there was no violation of

the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine.

3. The Superior Court did not err when it denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration because Appellant did not support its Motion for Reconsideration.

Reconsideration is only available for a moving party when it can show one of the limited grounds for reconsideration of a court's decision.

See WA CR 59(a).

Appellant does not cite the specific rule it claims the Superior Court violated. Appellant's argument is entirely devoid of law and is made out of pure accusations.

Without citing to a specific ground for reconsideration contained in WA CR 59, Appellant's argument should fail. However, Appellant appears to be arguing WA CR 59(a)(1) (Brief of Appellant at 30, asking "Why is this case any different?", indicating irregularity). The argument seems to be a restatement of Appellant's argument that the Superior Court should not have appointed Mr. Esser and that the Superior Court should have recused itself. Alternatively, the Appellant could be arguing that the Superior Court erred by interfering in the arbitration process. However, as argued above, in Subsection 1, the Superior Court did not interfere in the arbitration process.

Assuming that Appellant cited sufficient grounds for reconsideration, Appellant's core argument is that the Superior Court

should not have appointed Mr. Esser. Insofar as this is Appellant's argument, it is simply a restatement of its Assignments of Error No. 1 & 2, see Subsection 1 & 2, above.

Appellant provides no legal argument or factual support that would allow Garrett Ranches to adequately respond beyond guessing at Appellant's argument. Appellant's Assignment of Error No. 3 should be denied.

4. The Superior Court correctly declined to recuse itself because the Superior Court was impartial and Appellant did not present any law or facts which would indicate that the Superior Court should recuse itself.

The Superior Court was correct in not recusing itself. At the hearing on February 13, 2015, to decide the issue of recusal, Appellant cited two cases, neither of which dictated the result it wanted. In <u>Tatham v. Rogers</u>, 170 Wash.App. 76, 103, 283 P.3d 583 (Div. 3, 2012), the Court of Appeals found that a trial judge's service as alternate attorney in fact for a party's lawyer, authorizing the judge to personally 'have all the powers of an absolute owner' as to the person's assets and liabilities is critical both because of its nature and its currency." <u>Tantham</u> involved a property distribution between two former cohabitants, Dr. Tantham and Mr. Rogers. <u>Id.</u> at 81. Dr. Tantham's lawyer was Ms. Bierbaum. <u>Id.</u> at 84. Feeling as though he had been slighted, Mr. Rogers instructed a personal investigator

to determine whether there was a connection between the trial judge and Ms. Bierbaum. <u>Id.</u> The investigator discovered a list of connections ranging from the fact that the judge had been business partners with Ms. Bierbaum to political connections between the two of them. <u>Id.</u> at 85. However, "[s]tanding alone, the past professional relationship between the judge and Ms. Bierbaum and the personal and political dealings between them during that relationship and in the several years that followed would probably not require the judge's disqualification...." <u>Id.</u> at 103. Instead, it was the judge's pecuniary interest as Ms. Bierbaum's alternate attorney in fact that caused the Court of Appeals to decide that the appearance of fairness doctrine had been violated. Here, there are no facts even close to the ones presented in <u>Tatham</u>.

In <u>State v. Witherspoon</u>, 171 Wash.App. 271, 286 P.3d 996 (Div. 2, 2012) a defendant convicted of second degree robbery challenged his conviction on a multitude of frivolous grounds, including that the trial court violated the appearance of fairness doctrine by making comments, evidencing a potential bias. <u>Id.</u> at 287-88. The alleged violative statement was that "before becoming a judge, he may have defended Witherspoon in a past, unrelated proceeding." <u>Id.</u> at 287. The Court of Appeals resoundingly rejected the defendant's allegation, stating that the defendant

"fails to provide sufficient evidence to overcome the presumption that the trial court performed its functions without bias or prejudice." <u>Id.</u> at 289.

The test for impartiality is an objective one and is stated as "whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned...." <u>Id.</u> at 288. Importantly, there is a presumption that the court performed its functions without bias or prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 289. Bare oral assertions do not amount to a violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. <u>Id.</u>

Even in a case where the trial judge's spouse had represented one of the parties in a case, the appearance of fairness doctrine is not violated. Kok v. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10, 179 Wash.App. 10, 23, 317 P.3d 481 (Div. 2, 2013). In Kok, the estate of Samnang Kok sued the school district after Kok had been shot in the hallway at Foss High School. Id. at 13. The trial court dismissed the action and the estate appealed, claiming among other things, that the trial judge should have recused herself because her husband had represented the school district in the past. Id. The Court of Appeals rejected the estate's claim that the appearance of fairness doctrine had been violated, stating that neither the trial judge nor her spouse had any interest in the outcome of the case. Id. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals stated that a party must produce sufficient evidence demonstrating actual or potential bias, such as personal or pecuniary interest on the part of the judge; mere speculation is not enough. Id. at 24 (emphasis added). Here,

the Superior Court literally had no personal or pecuniary interest in the outcome of this case. Neither the Superior Court's income nor its future income nor any business interest is at all impacted by this case. For that matter, the Superior Court had no pecuniary or personal interest in the appointment of any particular arbitrator. The Superior Court Judge in this case never practiced or had any business relationship with Mr. Esser, Mr. Ferguson, Libey & Ensley, PLLC, or counsel for Appellant. Finally, Mr. Esser has no business relationship (and hasn't had one for over half a decade now) with Libey & Ensley, PLLC. What this boils down to is neither Mr. Esser nor the Superior Court had a dog in the fight.

What the caselaw under the appearance of fairness doctrine says is that the judiciary may not be unfairly biased or potentially biased against a *party*. The key here is the word "party". Even the case Appellant claims supplies the test for appearance of fairness, requires that the bias be for or against a party. Smith v. Behr Process Corp., 113 Wash.App. 306, 340, 54 P.3d 665 (Div. 2, 2002).

There are only two parties to this action, Garrett Ranches, LLC and Appellant. The Superior Court had no connection to either of the two LLCs or their members.

The flagship of the Appellant's argument of apparent bias is that the Superior Court commented on the legal issue of res judicata and therefore

showed bias. Brief of Appellant at 28. Appellant's factual support is that the Superior Court *sua sponte* selected res judicata as a means of defeating Appellant's arguments. Brief of Appellant at 28. Appellant claims that the Superior Court originated the idea of res judicata and everyone seemed to followed its lead. Garrett Ranches had, since before the third round of arbitration began, claimed that the issues raised by Appellant had already been decided. CP 3-4, 7-11. Whether one calls the principles res judicata or issue preclusion, the facts show that the Superior Court did not decide the issue and did not come up with the concept in an attempt to sway anyone, let alone any of the Arbitrators, none of whom appeared at the hearing on October 24, 2014. February 13, 2015—RP 42:2-4. The Superior Court addressed Appellant's accusation that the Superior Court had impermissibly commented on the case. February 13, 2015—RP 40-42.

Appellant's Assignment of Error No. 4 should be dismissed. The Superior Court did not impermissibly comment on the case and thus there was no showing of bias or impropriety. There was no showing of bias or impropriety and certainly the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine was not violated in this case.

5. Mr. Esser did not fail to disclose any relationships and Mr. Esser's judgment was not biased against Appellant.

Appellant argues that the Superior Court should not have confirmed the Arbitration Award because Mr. Esser failed to make proper disclosures under RCW 7.04A.120. Appellant failed to argue a violation of RCW 7.04A.120 (governing factual disclosures by arbitrators) to the Superior Court. "Generally, issues not raised before the trial court will not be considered on appeal." Fuqua v. Fuqua, 88 Wash. 2d 100, 105, 558 P.2d 801, 804 (1977). Appellant did not claim a violation of RCW 7.04A.120 before the Superior Court.

Even if Appellant had properly objected and raised this issue at the trial court level, Mr. Esser didn't violate RCW 7.04A.120. "Our courts have declined to adopt such a comprehensive disclosure requirement for arbitrators." Hanson v. Shim, 87 Wash. App. 538, 546-47, 943 P.2d 322, 326-27 (1997). "Not every relationship is a disclosable relationship." Id. at 547. "A general duty to disclose exists when the relationship or circumstance creates a reasonable inference of the presence of bias or the absence of impartiality." Id. "Such an inference is created when an arbitrator has had a relatively recent association with a law firm representing a party and a continuing relationship with the firm on other matters." Id.

"Even when such an inference exists, the complaining party must show the existence of prejudice from the nondisclosure. <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added).

Mr. Esser disclosed his past relationship with the firm of Libey & Ensley. CP 222. The Superior Court knew of the prior relationship and rightly concluded that Mr. Esser had made the disclosure and that the prior relationship was not sufficient to disqualify Mr. Esser. February 13, 2015--RP 35-36.

In <u>S&S Construction v. ADC Properties, LLC</u>, S & S argued that "[j]ustifiable doubt" as to partiality existed because the arbitrator in that case was "formerly an attorney with the same law firm representing [ADC]," previously served as an arbitrator for ADC's counsel, and previously served as mediator for one of ADC's principal members. <u>S&S Construction v. ADC Properties, LLC</u>, 151 Wash. App. 247, 258, 211 P.3d 415, 421 (2009). S & S offered no case law supporting its assertions nor did it show prejudice resulting from those relationships. <u>Id.</u> at 259.

The <u>S&S</u> arbitrator's relationship with one of the firms was "far too remote, and commonplace, to be considered a conflict." <u>Id.</u> "[The Arbitrator] worked for [the firm's] predecessor law firm, Davis Wright Todd Reise & Jones from approximately June 1976 through September 1978, and again from approximately April 1979 through September 1981. More than 25 years elapsed between [arbitrator's] employment with the

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